RECEIVED

Apr 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Hon. Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001872

State of South Carolina Respondent,

vs

William B. Oswald, Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
S.C. Bar No. 6188

Attorney for Appellant

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the trial court err in admitting the testimony of Lester Bradley Oswald as to an alleged sexual assault which allegedly occurred fifteen to twenty years before the alleged assault in this case when the prior bad act served no purpose other than to improperly introduce propensity evidence before the jury?

Question II: Did the lower court err in failing to sustain the hearsay objection to what the daughter was told when she allegedly reported the alleged abuse to the Estill police department when the overruling of the objection opened the door to improper opinion testimony from the officer as to the credibility of the witness?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to declare a mistrial when a witness for the state testified that William Oswald was willing to take a polygraph examination?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

William Oswald was arrested on May 9, 2019 and charged with three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, first degree. He was tried before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith and jury on November 27 to December 1, 2024. He was convicted on all three charges. He was sentenced to twenty years concurrent on two counts and a twenty year consecutive on the other count.

The Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed on December 5, 2024.

Factual History

On March 23, 2019, Faith Hoover, then age 33, and Deborah Buller, then age 31, the two daughters of William B. Oswald, reported to the Lexington and Richland Counties Sheriffs' Departments that their father had sexually molested them from 1991 until 1996. Rec. on App. at 914-919 (Def. Ex. 3), Rec. on App. at 911-912 (Court's Ex. 4). In her March 25, 2019, signed statement, Ms. Hoover stated, "The first time that I remember is when I was in the third grade my dad and I was [sic] the only ones home." Rec. on App. at 916 (Def. Ex. 3). Ms. Buller mentioned incidents in both Richland and Lexington Counties. She also testified "I was forced to sleep in his bed and spoon with him." Rec. on App. at 147, ll 17-18. *See, also* Court's Exhibit 4.¹ Rec. on App. at 911.

On the Sunday before the trial was to start on Monday, defense counsel was notified that Ms. Hoover had informed the state that the first sexual assault on her started in Estill, SC when

¹ In her statement she said the abuse occurred from 1996 until 2001. As she was born in 1985, the abuse allegedly occurred from age 11 until 16. Her testimony at trial was the alleged abuse stopped at age 11.

she and her family were living in the basement of a church. Rec. on App. at 913 (Court's Ex. 5).

In her pre-trial testimony, Ms. Hoover stated the sexual assault in Estill had happened one time in a house in Furman, SC, near Estill. She did not mention any sexual assault in the basement of the church. In a pre-trial hearing as to the admissibility of evidence under Rule 404b, after describing a sexual assault occurring in the bedroom of the Furman house, she was asked:

Q. (By Ms. Johns) And any other incidents that happened in Estill you can share with us?

A. (By Ms. Hoover) Not sexually.
Rec. on App. at 38, ll 1-3.

In Ms. Hoover's testimony before the jury, after describing a specific sexual act that occurred in the guest bedroom in the house in Furman, she was asked the following:

Q. (By Ms. Johns) Okay. Now, how many times did this happen in Estill that you can remember?

A. (By Ms. Hoover) It was regular. I - - I don't have an exact number. That would be, I - - I mean I can't give a number.

Q. Would it always - -

A. But it was common.

Rec. on App. at 87, ll 14-19.

Throughout her testimony, Ms. Hoover never contended that she did not remember the sexual assaults. She says she told her future husband, Jacob, before they were married in 2006. Rec. on App. at 115, ll 7-12. She also testified in 2008 she told a doctor in Dillion, SC when she was 23. Rec. on App. at 124, ll 13-21.² Her husband, Jacob, testified she told him about the alleged sexual abuse in 2000, shortly after they met. No police report was filed when she told

² In response to a leading question, Ms. Hoover testified the doctor she saw did not have to report the incident as she was of age. South Carolina Code § 63-7-310 does not contain an exception if the person reporting it is 18 or older. Rec. on App. at 124, ll 17-25. In later testimony, she stated prior to 2017, she had only told her husband and her grandmother. Rec. on App. at 134, ll 7-10.

him. Rec. on App. at 280, ll 14-24. Ms. Hoover further testified that when she was living with her grandmother and was sexually abused by her father, she told her grandmother shortly after the abuse occurred. She testified nothing happened after she told her grandmother. Rec. on App. at 100, ll 1-15.

Ms. Hoover stated she told her mother about the alleged sexual abuse when she was visiting in Orangeburg in 2018 for the funeral for the grandfather of her husband. Her testimony was as follows:

Q. (By Ms. Johns) All right. So now we're in Orangeburg and Jacob's grandfather died?

A. (By Ms. Hoover) Yes.

Q. What happened with regards to your story?

A. I told my mom.

Q. How did you tell her?

A. I talked to her on the phone that we would be down.

Q. Was she with your father at the time?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay

A. Because I told her that I wanted to see her, but he was not allowed to be there.

Q. Okay. What happened - - -

A. So she came to Orangeburg and we sat on the back porch around their table. And I looked at her and I said, "Mom, dad molested me over and over again." And she said, "oh, I already knew."

* * *

A. - - - And let me know that I had not lost it. And I asked her "How did you know?" And she said, "You told your grandmother."

Rec. on App. at 139, l 8 to 140, l 10.

Rebecca Oswald, the wife of William B. Oswald, and the mother of Ms. Hoover, gave a different account of whether she was told by her mother of the alleged abuse. She testified:

Q. (By Mr. Lyle) Okay. Did Ms. Hill ever tell you that she was aware that Bill had molested Faith or Deborah or both?

A. (By Ms. Oswald) No, I don't remember.

Q. Would you have probably remembered that?

A. I would've remembered it.

Q. And how do you think Ms. Hill or Mr. Hill would've responded if they would've found out that Bill had molested?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm sorry. Tell me what that means?

A. Yes, my dad would've responded.

Q. And how would he - - how would he have responded?

A. He would've taken action.

Q. What - - what about Ms. Hill? Would she have taken action?

A. I think she would've too.

Q. Would she have made sure Mr. Hill knew?

A. Yes.

Rec. on App. at 366, l 15 to 367, l 1.

Shortly after the birth of her last daughter in December of 2016, Ms. Hoover began to have serious psychiatric problems. These problems resulted in her losing her ability to walk and speak. Rec. on App. at 132, ll 5-16. She further stated she began hallucinating. In her hallucinations she would see her father, William Oswald, at places he was not present. Rec. on App. at 133, ll 18-24. One such occurrence was when she believed her father came to her house in London, KY in a car she did not recognize. Rec. on App. at 130, l 11 to 131, l 11.

After years of counseling, the counseling records show that on May 22, 2020, she told her counselor that she had been lying to her and that her husband had been abusing her for years. Rec. on App. at 184, ll 16-19; 391, ll 1-8; 400, ll 8-14. Ms. Hoover denied telling the counselor that she had been physically abused by her husband. In response to the counselor's notes of May 22, 2020, which stated Ms. Hoover had made a claim of physical abuse by her husband, she stated, "My husband has never touched me." Rec. on App. at 199, l 20. She further denied ever telling her counselor that her husband physically abused her. Rec. on App. at 199, ll 21-25.

Jacob Hoover, husband of Faith, had numerous text messages exchange with Mr. Oswald. Def. Exhibit. 4. In these exchanges Mr. Hoover stated that both he and Mr. Oswald had abused

Faith. When read in context, the abuse refers to physical and not sexual abuse. Mr. Hoover also denied physically abusing his wife. Rec. on App. at 284, ll 17-21. His text messages with Mr. Oswald appear to contradict this testimony. Def. Exhibit 4, at 920.

Deborah Buller, when first told by her mother, her sister had made a claim of sexual abuse, denied she had been sexually assaulted by her father. Rec. on App. at 493, ll 13-15. Her testimony was the thoughts as to her father came flooding back after she had an argument with her husband. Rec. on App. at 495, l 18 to 496, l 3. The argument was in 2019. She testified as a result of these flashbacks, she attempted suicide. She was hospitalized on March -- Rec. on App. at 496, ll 6-19. This was her third suicide attempt.

On March 26, 2019, Ms. Buller filed a telephone report against Mr. Oswald for his allegedly grouping her at Lexington Hospital where she was confined after her suicide attempt. A written report was given on March 27, 2019. Rec. on App. at 407, ll 12-25. In her March 27 written report, she claimed that on March 8, 2019, while she was hospitalized from her suicide attempt, Mr. Oswald came into her hospital room early one morning while she was groggy. She awoke to his fondling her breasts. She claimed she screamed and two nurses came running into the room and escorted Mr. Oswald out of the room. Rec. on App. at 408, ll 2-9.

While the video of the hall outside the room was not introduced, Nicholas Dantzler, the security officer for Lexington Hospital, saw the video and described a different set of facts. He stated:

A. (By Mr. Dantzler) We reviewed a video from the hallway. We can see the subject [Mr. Oswald] coming to the hospital, see him going to the room to visit, He stays roughly 20 minutes and then leaves. At no point does medical staff enter the room.
Rec. on App. at 409, ll 6-9.

Mr. Oswald was contacted by Officer Dantzler. He cooperated with the investigation and gave a statement to the officer. Rec. on App. at 413, ll 8-15. After talking to the nurses involved, who did not confirm the story told by Ms. Buller, the case was closed “due to not having probable cause to present to the judge.” Rec. on App. at 417, ll 10-11; 420, ll 15 to 421, l 9.

Ms. Buller had a history of two other suicide attempts. The first was at the age of 11 when she attempted to hang herself with a belt. She disclosed this attempt to Sandy, the youth pastor’s wife. Rec. on App. at 454, ll 5-11. She stated she told her father after church one Sunday and he was upset. As a result he beat her with a belt. Rec. on App. at 455, ll 9-14. He allegedly forced her to take a bath with her clothes on. Her mother came home shortly afterwards, went in the bathroom and took the razor out of the bathroom. She claimed her mother did not ask her how she was. Rec. on App. at 456, ll 3-20. Her mother did not testify to such an incident.

As a result of this suicide attempt, she, at her father’s request, went to counseling. Rec. on App. at 457, ll 3-7. Her father carried her to the counseling appointment. She testified her father told her, “[T]here are some things that you don’t talk about and if you do, there will be consequences.” Rec. on App. at 457, ll 12-14. She testified she never discussed anything with the counselor. As she said, “I wasn’t going to say anything because if I said the wrong thing, I didn’t want to deal with that.” Rec. on App. at 457, ll 23-25. She never said anything including small talk. Rec. on App. at 458, ll 3-10. She did not testify as to how long this “counseling” lasted nor did the counselor testify.

She described her mother as being absent. She also testified her mother was in bed a lot.

Rec. on App. at 461, ll 14-21. She further described the house as being very dark. Rec. on App. at 461, l 25 to 462, l 6. She further testified that except for one B, she was a straight A student. Rec. on App. at 467, ll 14-15. She was also active in student activities such as soccer and chorus. She further stated she went through a “goth phase”. Rec. on App. at 467, ll 20-25.

Her second suicide attempt came after she filed a complaint against a fellow student for rape. This occurred the last day of her freshman year. Rec. on App. at 472, l 22 to 473, l 2. She described this incident as, “It reminded me of what my father did.” Rec. on App. at 473, l 21 She first told her mother who later told her father. Rec. on App. at 474, l 13 to 475, l 12. Her father, upon being told of the incident, took her into the backyard and left her outside for while. Later he came and got her and took her to the hospital to be examined. Rec. on App. at 476, ll 19-23. Her father denied taking her into the backyard or beating her. Rec. on App. at 637, l 20 to 638, l 5. Her mother did not testify as to this incident. She further testified she did not tell the doctors about her father because she was scared of him. Rec. on App. at 478, ll 4-12. As a result of this incident, she again went to counseling. Rec. on App. at 479, ll 5-7. As a result of the incident, she had her second suicide attempt. She took a bottle of her sister’s migraine tablets. Rec. on App. at 481, ll 2-5.

Her father gave her “ipecac or something.” Rec. on App. at 481, l 22. What she was given made her vomit and she was taken to Lexington Medical Center. Rec. on App. at 481, ll 23-24. She was treated and released from the Lexington Hospital. She again entered counseling. In these counseling sessions she stated she disclosed the physical abuse by her father but not the

sexual assault. Rec. on App. at 482, ll 9-24.³ The counseling session lasted for about a year. Rec. on App. at 518, ll 14-21. The reason she gave for not disclosing the sexual abuse was, “I was afraid.” Rec. on App. at 483, l 8. She apparently was not afraid to disclose the physical abuse. No counselor for Ms. Buller testified. After she recovered from this suicide attempt, she transferred to Ben Lippen School.⁴ She excelled academically. Rec. on App. at 483, ll 15-21. After graduation, she attended Columbia College. She graduated in 2009. Rec. on App. at 483, l 25 to 484, l 1.

After her graduation her relationship with her father appeared to be normal. They frequently exchanged text messages as is evidence by the 195 pages of text messages introduced as Defendant’s Exhibit 13. Rec. on App. at 933-1124. The text messages contain references to the children of Ms. Buller spending the night with Mr. Oswald. On January 10, 2019, about two years after the allegations by her sister, Ms. Buller’s daughter spent the night with Mr. Oswald. Rec. on App. at 1104 (Def. Ex. 13). Previously he took his grandson to the fair for the day on October 19, 2016. Rec. on App. at 960-962 (Def. Exhibit. 13).

Ms. Buller brought charges against her father on March 23, 2019. The charges were originally made in Richland County. Rec. on App. at 914 (Def. Exhibit 3). She also made a report in Newberry County that Mr. Oswald molested eight other children, but she never

³ Had the physical abuse been disclosed, the counselor would have been required to report the abuse under S.C. Code § 63-7-310. Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Oswald ever testified as to being investigated by the Department of Social Services or the sheriff’s department for the alleged physical abuse. The state did not introduce any report of abuse.

⁴ :A Scottish phrase meaning ‘Mountain of Trust,’ Ben Lippen School was founded in 1940 by the Columbia Bible College (CBC), now Columbia International University (CIU), and the board of trustees under the guidance of CBC’s first president, Robert C. McQuilkin.” <https://www.benlippen.com/about-us/> (Visited July 3, 2024)

provided the Newberry officials with the names, times or places. She made a further claim that Mr. Oswald might have molested patients in the ambulance. Rec. on App. at 513, ll 3-13.

Finally, she reported that she believed Mr. Oswald had molested her children. Her five year old son Braden was given a forensic interview. The result exonerated Mr. Oswald and did reveal that he had been molested by a fellow student. Rec. on App. at 513, ll 23 to 515, ll 12.

In 2020, while Mr. Oswald was out on bond with electronic monitoring, Ms. Buller reported to the police that Mr. Oswald had approached her and spoke to her while she was walking at Nazareth Road horse track. The report was determined to be false. Rec. on App. at 528, ll 3 to 529, ll 22. The police checked the GPS monitoring device and determined that Mr. Oswald was about seven miles away. Rec. on App. at 667, ll 2-3

In the effort to convict Mr. Oswald, the State introduced the testimony of Lester Bradley “Brad” Oswald, the brother of Mr. Oswald. Brad testified that when his family was living in Columbia, SC, he was sexually assaulted by his older from the time he was about 4 years of age until he was about ten years of age. Brad testified the alleged sexual abuse started when he was “4, 5, 6 maybe. Maybe a little older” Rec. on App. at 229, ll 3. In his initial statement to the police, the police reported he said the sexual abuses continued until he was 16. Rec. on App. at 246, ll 4-15. Mr. Oswald was eight years older than Brad. Rec. on App. at 228, ll 8. At the time of the trial Brad was 53 years of age. Rec. on App. at 229, ll 6-7. This meant that the alleged sexual assault occurred from about 1975 until 1980, some fifteen to twenty years before the alleged assaults in this case. Brad also testified he told the police about the alleged assault when he about 16 years of age. Rec. on App. at 245, ll 18-25. He also said both of Mr. Oswald’s children were present when he confronted Mr. Oswald. Rec. on App. at 247, ll 13-21. No police

report was produced to substantiate this claim.

In a pre-trial motion as to the admissibility of Brad's testimony, Faith Hoover and Brad Oswald testified.⁵ The trial judge found sufficient similarities between the alleged homosexual assault of Brad and the alleged sexual assaults in this case. Trial counsel objected to the admission of the alleged 404b testimony. Rec. on App. at 51, 14 to 54, 120. The trial judge admitted the testimony from Brad Oswald listing what he perceived to be similarities between the two cases. Rec. on App. at 60, 11 to 61, 15.

⁵ The testimony of Deborah Buller was different in that she testified the alleged assaults took place on occasions when other people were present. She did not testify at the *Lyle* hearing. The trial judge did list the act being done when no one was around as a similarity.

Standard of Review

As to Issues I and II, as the trial judge erred as a matter of law in admitting this evidence, the standard of review should be de novo. “Our standard of review in criminal cases is limited to correcting errors of law. We are bound by the facts as the trial court found them, unless they are clearly erroneous.” *State v. Green*, 436 S.C. 492, 494, 872 S.E.2d 869, 869–70 (Ct. App. 2022), reh'g denied (June 6, 2022), cert. denied (Mar. 7, 2023). As to Issue III the standard of review is abuse of discretion. “The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Stanley*, 365 S.C. 24, 33, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005)

Argument

Question I

Did the trial court err in admitting the testimony of Lester Bradley Oswald as to an alleged sexual assault which allegedly occurred fifteen to twenty years before the alleged assault in this case when the prior bad act served no purpose other than to improperly introduce propensity evidence before the jury?

As an initial matter in this case, William B. Oswald asks this Court to review and either overturn or modify *State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654, (2020), *State v. Durant*, 430 S.C. 98, 844 S.E.2d 49 (2020) and *State v. Cotton*, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020). By placing special emphasis on similarity in these cases, this Court has created confusion in both the bench and bar as to what other bad acts in all criminal cases, and not just criminal sexual conduct cases, are admissible in a criminal trial.

No one will doubt the seriousness of child sex abuse. No one will doubt the harm it can inflict on a child. These concerns, however, must not stop us from acknowledging two facts as to

child sex abuse that are absolutely certain. 1. Child sex abuse occurs. 2. Children make up allegations of child sex abuse. For these reasons, the admission of highly prejudicial evidence should be closely examined.

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