**RECEIVED**

**Apr 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001872

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM BENTON OSWALD,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court acted within its discretion when it admitted evidence of Oswald's prior acts of sexual violence.**

Oswald alleges the trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence of his prior sexual abuse of his brother to prove subsequent acts of abuse against his daughters. Because there was a logical connection between the prior abuse and charged acts, the trial court acted within its discretion by admitting the prior conduct under Rule 404(b), SCRE. This Court should affirm.

#### **Standard of review.**

The admission of prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 114, 844 S.E.2d 56, 57 (2020).

#### **Discussion.**

Before trial, the State signaled its intention to introduce prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, which provides: "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent." To establish admissibility under Rule 404(b), the State must show "a logical relevancy or connection between the other crime and some disputed fact or element of the crime charged." State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 31, 842 S.E.2d 654, 658 (2020). The evidence must also pass a Rule 403 analysis, whereby

evidence must be admitted unless its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Id.

The State proffered testimony from Oswald's younger brother (Brother). Brother testified that Oswald anally raped him multiple times as a child, and that the abuse stopped when he was around 10 years old, around the year 1980. R.p.10, 15. The State elicited testimony showing Oswald exploited his position of authority and physical dominance to commit incest against his brother. Brother explained: "[Oswald] was in charge of us. I mean, he was the oldest of four brothers. And so if mom and dad was not around, he was there, and it was you do . . . what he tells you to do . . . He was in charge." R.p.9. He further explained that Oswald threatened him not to disclose the abuse. R.p.9. He testified about a specific incident where Oswald raped him from behind in the family bathroom when no one else was home. R.p.7-8.

The State then proffered evidence from Daughter 1, who recalled an incident where Oswald vaginally raped her from behind in their family home when no one else was home. R.p.35-37. Afterwards, he warned her not to tell anyone. R.p.37. She explained she was afraid of Oswald. R.p.37. She described Oswald's authoritarian parenting style and physical abuse. R.p.37.

After hearing arguments from counsel and reading Oswald's pretrial brief, the trial court ruled Brother's testimony was admissible. He cited Oswald's exploitation of his position of authority, warnings against disclosure, the incestuous

nature of the abuse, and the ages of the victims as similarities between the prior acts and charged crimes. R.p.60–61.

The record supports the trial court’s ruling. Under the deferential “abuse of discretion” standard of review, there were sufficient similarities between the events to show the existence of a plan and a logical connection between the prior acts and charged crimes, especially the charge related to Daughter 1. See Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 587, 885 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2023) (explaining “when a trial court’s . . . thought process of applying sound principles of law to the court’s view of the facts and circumstances is evident in the record of proceedings. . . the appellate court will defer to the trial court’s exercise of discretion, even when the judges on the appellate court might have made the decision differently”); State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”); State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 339, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A trial judge’s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence. If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”) (internal citation omitted).

The State did not introduce general character evidence or evidence of other dissimilar criminal acts to prove Oswald was merely a bad person or possessed an

“evil character.” See Perry, 430 S.C. at 29, 842 S.E.2d at 657. Rather, the prior act evidence concerned the same specific type and method of abuse Oswald was alleged to have committed against his daughters. Repetition of a specific method is evidence of a scheme or plan. See State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 391, 323 S.E.2d 772, 773 (1984) (prior sexual abuse against different daughters was admissible because the “method of attack was common to all three daughters”). The evidence served a “legitimate purpose,” and the trial court acted within its discretion by admitting it. Perry, 430 S.C. at 30, 842 S.E.2d at 657.

The common scheme or plan exception does not require that the prior acts overlap temporally, or that they are part of a continuous course of conduct. See State v. Blanton, 316 S.C. 31, 33, 446 S.E.2d 438, 440 (Ct. App. 1994) (“That the alleged acts perpetrated against the two witnesses occurred some seven to eight years prior to the alleged molestation of J., is not alone dispositive.”); State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 501, 748 S.E.2d 236, 243 (Ct. App. 2013) (eleven years); State v. Tutton, 354 S.C. 319, 332, 580 S.E.2d 186, 193 n.5 (Ct. App. 2013) (“Remoteness in time, however, is not dispositive.”). Rather, prior acts are admissible if they were committed using the same type of scheme or plan. The existence of a common scheme or plan is probative because it corroborates the testimony of the victim of the charged crime by showing the defendant utilized the same method in the past. Perry, 430 S.C. at 40, 842 S.E.2d at 663 (explaining common scheme or plan exists when there is a “fact in the crimes charged that was made more or less likely to be true by the [prior act] testimony”).

Oswald criticizes the supreme court's opinion in Perry because it emphasized the similarities between the prior and charged acts in its analysis of the logical connection between the acts, even though the court—in the same opinion—explained that similarities in themselves are not sufficient to show a logical connection under Rule 404(b). The Perry opinion explains that similarities between prior and charged acts can illustrate a logical connection, even if the mere presence of some similarities is not the entire 404(b) “test.” Thus the court's citation to cases such as McClellan, which are grounded on this theory. See also State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 249, 528 S.E.2d 700, 703 (Ct. App. 2000), *aff'd*, 348 S.C. 32, 558 S.E.2d 527 (2002) (in burglary case, admitting three prior burglaries committed in similar fashion because “the other crimes were not of just a general similarity, but were so closely connected to the crimes charged that the similarity enhanced the probative value of the evidence”). Oswald points out the dissimilarities between the prior and charged acts in this case, but this Court has stressed that the State is not required to show “a perfect match between two crimes” to establish a common scheme or plan. State v. Hillary, 441 S.C. 239, 258, 892 S.E.2d 541, 551 (Ct. App. 2023).

In this case, the circumstances of Oswald's abuse of his brother helped illustrate the method by which he abused his daughters and thereby corroborated their testimony. All of the victims were family members and Oswald was in a position of authority over them. They were within the same age range, 11 years old or younger during the periods of time when the rapes occurred. The rapes stopped by the time the victims reached puberty. R.p.108, 231, 449, 453. Oswald

threatened Brother and Daughter 1 not to disclose the rapes. R.p.122, 231. Oswald was physically bigger and stronger than his victims. Daughter 1 and Brother both described being raped from behind. R.p.85, 101, 230. Finally, the rapes of Daughter 1 and Brother occurred in the family home when other adults were not present. R.p.95, 99, 228. The trial court noted the similarities between the crimes, particularly the incestuous nature of the relationships and Oswald's abuse of his position of authority. R.p.563. These similarities establish a logical connection between the crimes. See Perry, 430 S.C. at 34, 842 S.E.2d at 659 (explaining a logical connection may exist when a defendant holds a monopoly on "the method used" to commit sexual assaults).

Oswald used a "particularized plan" for sexually assaulting his brother and daughters. Id. at 42, 430 S.E.2d at 663. Oswald's method was exploitation of his "position of . . . authority" over his victims. State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 106, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020); see also United States v. Roberts, 185 F.3d 1125, 1142 (10th Cir. 1999) (holding evidence of prior sexual assaults was properly admitted where defendant, "by virtue of his position, abuse[d] young female employees without fear of reprisal"); State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 501, 748 S.E.2d 236, 243 (Ct. App. 2013) (finding common scheme or plan where, among other similarities, "[a]buse occurred when the child was under Appellant's physical custody and control and when Appellant was the only adult present," and trial court noted defendant's "position of authority"); State v. Sexsmith, 157 P.3d 901, 906 (Wash. App. 2007) (finding

common scheme or plan where “Sexsmith was in a position of authority over both girls”).

Like Durant, Oswald used his position of authority and physical dominance to isolate and sexually assault pre-pubescent family members and intimidate them into keeping his abuse a secret. Oswald’s abuse of Brother demonstrated his subsequent abuse of his daughters was carried out according to a common design, lending credibility to their testimony. Although the prior bad acts were not admissible simply to show Oswald was a bad person generally, they were admissible to prove Oswald acted methodically to exploit his position of authority to commit incest. For the foregoing reasons, the evidence fits within the common scheme or plan exception.

Even if the Court finds the trial court erred by admitting Brother’s testimony, it should conduct a harmless error analysis. Error is harmless when there is not a reasonable probability the error affected the verdict. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). The evidence against Oswald was strong. While Oswald attempts to portray the victims’ testimonies as inconsistent and suspect, both daughters’ testimonies were extremely detailed and credible. For example, Daughter 2 testified she remembered hearing the theme song from the X-files and knew her father would soon come to her bedroom to rape her. R.p.452–53. Oswald’s wife corroborated Daughter 1’s testimony that she disclosed the abuse to her. R.p.321. She also testified—in response to a direct question from defense counsel—that she believed Oswald molested Daughter 2. A forensic psychiatrist

testified Daughter 1's symptoms were consistent with major depressive disorder, PTSD, and anxiety disorders. R.p.380. Daughter 2 attempted suicide multiple times. Oswald testified at length and the jury had the opportunity to assess the credibility of his version of events. The jury rejected his testimony. This Court should affirm.

**II. The trial court properly admitted testimony about the circumstances of Daughter 1's delayed disclosure, and Oswald was not prejudiced.**

Oswald complains that Daughter 1 was allowed to testify that, during the process of disclosing Oswald's abuse in the various jurisdictions where it occurred, a police officer in Estill told her she would have to come to Estill to file a report.

Oswald argues this "opened the door" to improper testimony from Daughter 1 that the Estill officer believed her report, which he alleges was bolstering. This bolstering argument is not preserved for review because it was not raised below, and Oswald cannot bootstrap the argument onto an unrelated objection.

Regardless, the trial court properly admitted Daughter 1's testimony explaining her delayed disclosure of Oswald's sexual abuse, and Oswald was not prejudiced. This Court should affirm.

**Standard of review.**

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006).

**Issue preservation.**

Oswald's bolstering argument is not preserved for review. Oswald did not object to the alleged bolstering on page 233 of the transcript that he identifies in his brief. R.p.151, line 10. This likely explains why Oswald attempts to bootstrap this argument onto a prior—and distinct—hearsay objection on page 232 of the transcript. R.p.150, line 22–23. Oswald never objected to bolstering at trial, and he may not raise this argument on appeal. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421,

706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (explaining a “party must have a contemporaneous and specific objection to preserve an issue for appellate review”); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.”).

**Discussion.**

Even if preserved, Oswald has not shown reversible error. Daughter 1 testified that she contacted the Estill police department about filing a report, but was told she would “have to travel to Estill” to do so. R.p.150, line 21. This statement was not hearsay because it was not admitted for its truth, but rather to explain its effect on the listener. See State v. White, 425 S.C. 304, 310, 821 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ct. App. 2018). The testimony was proper to show the circumstances of Daughter 1’s disclosure, which is crucial evidence in any case involving delayed disclosure. See State v. Acker, 435 S.C. 716, 735, 869 S.E.2d 873, 883 (Ct. App. 2022). Predictably, Oswald attacked Daughter 1’s failure to file a report with the Estill police department, which demonstrates why the explanation was necessary. R.p.160.

Further, the statement was not prejudicial to Oswald. Daughter 1 had already testified at length about the abuse that occurred in Estill. She subsequently testified that an Estill police officer discouraged her from filing a report. R.p.151. Oswald did not object to this testimony.

Finally, even if Oswald’s bolstering argument was preserved for review, he has not shown reversible error. The State did not present any testimony from an

Estill police officer indicating she believed (or did not believe) Daughter 1's report. Daughter 1's statement that no one ever told her they "didn't believe [her]" was likely prompted by her observation of defense counsel's pretrial strategy of discrediting Brother's testimony by aggressively asserting law enforcement did not believe him. R.p.24–25. Oswald has not shown reversible error. This Court should affirm.

**III. The trial court properly refused to declare a mistrial and instead gave a curative instruction when a witness testified Oswald offered to take a polygraph examination.**

The trial court properly refused to grant a mistrial based on a witness's statement that Oswald volunteered to take a polygraph examination when confronted with the allegations against him. While the results of polygraph tests are inadmissible at trial, the passing reference to Oswald's willingness to take the test did not warrant the extreme remedy of mistrial. The trial court properly chose to give a curative instruction instead, and the thorough instruction cured any prejudice. This Court should affirm.

**Standard of review.**

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Brown, 389 S.C. 84, 94, 697 S.E.2d 622, 627 (Ct. App. 2010). The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. Id. South Carolina courts favor the exercise of wide discretion of the trial court in determining the merits of such a motion in each individual case. Id.

**Discussion.**

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